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 Antelope Valley College District 
Business Services - Purchasing Office 

3041 W. Avenue K | Lancaster, CA 93536-5426 
661-722-6310 | purchasing@avc.edu 

ADDENDUM NO. 2 
PROJECT:  STUDENT INSURANCE 

BID NO.: RFP No. AVC2016/2017-7 
 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS ON THE ABOVE PROJECT: 
 
This addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modified the original bidding 
documents as noted below.  Please acknowledge the receipt of this addendum in your proposal 
submission. Failure to do so may subject the bidder to disqualification. 
 
This addendum consists of:  RFP QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS, ALONG WITH ATTACHMENTS 1-4 
 

Q-1. In terms of Catastrophic and Super Catastrophic insurance. We consider these types of 
insurance as Life Insurance and Accidental Death & Dismemberment insurance. Please 
confirm 
 
A-1.   Accidental Death & Dismemberment should be included in basic policy.  Catastrophic 
and Super Catastrophic provide coverage for severe injury.  $25k athletes / $50k students.  
See copy of current policy. 
 
Q-2. Is this the type of coverage you're requesting? If not, please specify what your 
expectations would be.  
 
A-2.   See A-1. 
 
Q-3. Can you confirm that this is for broker services only and you are not currently looking 
for the quotes for the insurance coverages. I ask because there are no loss reports, premium 
and benefit history or current sport census which are necessary for the insurance quote. 
 
A-3.   Either - See Attachment 2 of current and past year policies with census information.   
 
Q-4. Will the insurance be mandatory for both domestic and international students? 
 
A-4.   Yes, we require that both domestic and international students have health 
insurance.  Please note that this RFP is for student liability insurance.   
 
Q-5. With this RFP, are you requesting the response include quotes for the actual insurance 
coverage? If so, additional information is needed and listed below. Or are you requesting 
that response only for the services provided by a broker or agency? If the latter, A.M. Best 
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does not generally review agencies or brokers and the request on page 11, number III.g is 
not available. We would be happy to provide the ratings for all the companies we work with. 
If requesting the actual insurance quotes, please provide the following: 

• An expected census of athletes by sport for 2017-18 academic year. If that is not 
available, please provide the current census 

• A history of participation/enrollment in the international student insurance 
• History of premium and losses for all coverages (including international student 

insurance) for past 3 years, preferably 4 years if available. (Please include 
information on any large claims and separate student losses from athletic losses, 
base from catastrophic). 

• History of carriers and benefits matching the timeframe for losses for all coverages 
(including international student insurance). This can be by providing the policy 
document or brochures. 

 
A-5.   See Attachment 2 for losses. See Attachment 3 of current policy (past policies with 
same company) and census information. 
 
Q-6. With this RFP, are you requesting the response include quotes for the actual insurance 
coverage? If so, additional information is needed. Or are you requesting that response only 
for the services provided by a broker or agency? 
 
A-6. Actual coverage. 
 
Q-7. What is the average annual enrollment under the international plan? is it for all 
international students? Mandatory? Waiver? 
 
A-7.  This question is unclear. Assuming bidder is inquiring about health insurance than 
enrollment is usually at 100% and is designed for F-1 students.  Once a student changes 
their visa status, they are no longer eligible.  Only students who are married to a US 
resident/citizen and are covered by their spouse’s coverage can waive the insurance as 
well as any Saudi students sponsored by SACM.  Please note that this RFP is for student 
liability insurance.   
 
Q-8.  Regarding Accident Insurance: 1) Page 9—Coverage:  states you currently have 10,500 
students.  The Chancellor’s Office indicates you have 15,000.  Please, explain the 
discrepancy. 
 
A-8.   Correct RFP to indicate 15,000 students. 
 
Q-9. Regarding Accident Insurance: 2) Page 9—Coverage: states you currently have 215 
intercollegiate athletes.  Our records indicate you have 284.  Please, explain the difference. 
 
A-9.   Correct RFP to indicate 284 intercollegiate athletes. 
 
Q-10. Regarding Accident Insurance: 3) Page 9—Coverage: does not indicate the maximum 
amounts of benefits desired.  May we assume the basic insurance should offer $25,000 for 
athletes and $50,000 for intercollegiate athletes? 
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A-10.   See Attachment 3 of current policy.   $25k for athletes / $50k for students. 
 
Q-11. Regarding Accident Insurance: 4) Your current deductible is $50 for students and for 
Class II athletes and $100 for Class I athletes.  May we provide you with our recommended 
deductible amounts which would be more advantageous to the program? 
 
A-11.   Yes – will take recommendations. 
 
Q-12. Regarding Accident Insurance: 5) As the accident insurance is a secondary plan, does 
the College mandate students to present health insurance certificates?  
 
A-12.   Current health insurance certificate is required when filing a claim. 
 
Q-13. Regarding Accident Insurance: 6) Our compensation is included in the gross premium 
and is paid directly by the underwriting insurance carrier.  The RFP request information on 
the bidders fees; can you please clarify 'fees'? 
 
A-13.   Any additional fees should be listed if separate from gross premium. 
 
Q-14. Regarding Accident Insurance: 7) The RFP makes reference to upper division and 
graduate-level programs: 

a.   Are the students in the upper division and graduate level to be included in the 
proposal?    
b.  If they are to be included, what is the enrollment for this specific group of students? 
c.   Are any of these students athletes? 
d.  If so, what sports do they play? 
e.  Do they compete at the Community College Conferences level or do they compete 
with 4-year universities? 
f.   If upper division athletes, are they covered by the (NCAA) National Collegiate Athletic    
    Association's catastrophic policy or are they to be covered under the proposed plans? 
g. You are requesting an effective date of July 1, 2017.  An effective date of August 
1 to July 31st would be more appropriate. Will you consider changing the effective date 
to concur with the general trend? 

 
A-14.   a. Upper division are still AVC students and should not be separated.  There are no 
graduate-level programs. 
             b. 25 upper division students in the first year / 50 students per year thereafter.  
Again they are AVC students and should not be separated. 
             c.  No. 
             d.  N/A. 
             e.  N/A. 
             f.   No. 
             g.   We would like the policy to align with our fiscal year of 7/1/17 – 6/30/18.  This 
is a common practice with other California Community College Districts. 
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Q-15. Regarding Accident Insurance: 8) The current atmosphere, regarding any premium 
guarantee for subsequent years, is one of caution.  Since the passage of ACA (Affordable 
Care Act aka Obama Care), several companies have left the market leaving a more limited 
pool of insurers for (international) students. The main cause for this situation is the 
unlimited benefits which, to the insurance carrier represents an ’unknown’ risk. 
Underwriters have difficulty placing a value on unknown risks and are most unlikely to 
provide a future rate guarantee at this time. The insurance industry is awaiting signals from 
the new Administration, but no one can predict the ultimate outcome with any degree of 
certainty.   Will the selection Committee take this uncertainty into consideration? 
 
A-15.   Yes. 
 
Q-16. Regarding Health Insurance-International: 9) Your website indicates the College has 
health insurance plans available, but it does not appear to mandate insurance.  What is your 
international students enrollment for the last 3 years? 
 
A-16.   2013/14=26, 2014/15=25, 2015/16=33. 
 
Q-17.  What are the top 3 countries of origin? 
 
A-17.   We do not have a method of identifying origin within our reporting system. 
 
Q-18. Is there a census with ages for the current enrollment? 
 
A-18.   See Attachment 4. 
 
Q-19.  How many international students participate in intercollegiate sports? Number of 
participants per sport? 
 
A-19.   Zero international students participate in intercollegiate sports.  
 
Q-20. Moving forward do you plan on following the Federal guidelines and mandate health 
insurance for all your international students? 
 
A-20.   See A-4 
 
Q-21.  Currently, what insurance plans are your students purchasing? 
 
A-21.   See A-4 
 
Q-22. You are requesting an effective date of July 1, 2017.  The effective date used by most 
Community Colleges is August 1, 2017. Would you consider changing the effective date to 
concur with the general trend? 
 
A-22.   See A-14(g) 
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Q-23. Will the selection Committee consider only plans that comply with ACA [Affordable 
Care Act/Obama Care]?  
 
A-23.   No. 
 
Q-24. Will you/the selection Committee consider plans which are IRS exempt? 
 
A-24.   Yes. 
 
Q-25.  There may be some changes in the requirements of health insurance benefits under 
the new Administration.  If changes should occur, will the selection Committee consider the 
new federal regulations--if any? 
 
A-25.   Yes. 
 
Q-26. Insurance carriers most likely will request history of premium, claims submitted, 
claims paid, loss ratio:  will you be able to provide any of this information? 
 
A-26.   See Attachment 2. 
 
Q-27.  Do you plan on charging the international students insurance premium at the time 
the student registers?  If not, how do you plan to confirm the student has purchased 
insurance and will keep the insurance for the period of his/her studies at AVC? 
 
A-27.   Yes. If not, students are sent an email notice to pay insurance online. An email 
receipt is sent from the insurance company to the District and the hold is removed. 
 
Q-28. Regarding Health Insurance-International: 10) Will you/the selection 
Committee entertain recommendations from the bidder? 
 
A-28.   Yes. 
 
Q-29. Do you want a compliant on non-compliant plan design? 
 
A-29.   This question would apply if we were seeking an RFP for health insurance.  
However, student accident insurance is an accident-only policy and is exempt from the 
Affordable Care Act requirements. 
 
Q-30. What will the eligibility requirement be for the 14,000 students – hard waiver or 
voluntary? 
 
A-30.  Eligible students who are covered under the student accident-only policy will not 
be subject to any waivers.  This is a question for 4-year institutions offering medical 
insurance programs to students. 
 
Q-31. # of sport activities to be covered? 
 



Page 6 of 25 
 

A-31.   See copy of current policy with census information. (Attachment 3) 
 
Q-32. How many students participating in each sport? 
 
A-32.   See A-31. 
 
Q-33. How many females/male? 
 
A-33.  A-31. 
 
Q-34. Duration of each sport activity - Or, how long is the season for each sport? 
 
A-34.  See Attachment 1 – sports season dates and schedules. 
 
Q-35. International travel - does this include faculty, student, alumni, etc? 
 
A-35.   Students only.  
 
Q-36. For international coverage - can you provide a list of future, planned international 
travel - and where? 
 
A-36.   None planned at this time. 
 
Q-37. Need a student census - names, age, zip code? 
 
A-37.  See Attachment 4. 
 
Q-38. Are you currently insurance? 
 
A-38.  Your question is unclear. Do you mean currently insured?  Yes. 
 
Q-39. Will need 3-5 years of loss runs, a copy of the current plan design/policy if there is an 
existing one in place, & student census (broken down by sports for the ICS piece). 
 
A-39.   See Attachment 2. 
 
Q-40. Do you have a requested plan design for the RFP? 
 
A-40.   No. 
 
Q-41. I am assuming that the school did not have an endorsed plan before now – so there 
is no experience to review – please confirm. 
 
A-41.   See copy of current policy. (Attachment 3) 
 
Q-42. Do you want a separate sports plan – or the 215 athletes to purchase the student plan 
– with sports embedded in the student plan? 
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A-42.   No.  Athletes would be covered under the athlete portion of the plan.  See copy of 
current policy (Attachment 3).  Total of 284 athletes is the correct number.   
 
Q-43. Will this plan be hard waiver for International students – how many International 
students do you have from your student population of 11,500? 
 
A-43.   See A-4.   We have less than 20 international students. 
 
Q-44. Most insurance companies have a 2-3 week turn-around and your deadline gives one 
week between the date to respond to questions and the proposal submissions.  We urge 
you to reconsider your deadline to give us at least 12-15 business days between 
the response to questions and the proposal submissions.  
 
A-44. The deadline for submitting proposals has been extended to 02/01/17.  See 
Addendum 1. 
 
Q-45. Please provide for the 2016-2017 (YTD); 2015-2016; 2014-2015; and 2013-2014 policy 
years:  

• Eligibility/insured categories 
• Enrollment 
• Rates 
• Premium 
• Brochures with Benefit Summaries and Exclusions 
• Large claims (over $5,000) with specific diagnosis 
• Utilization reports, to include medical and prescription utilization 
• All of the above information for the sports plan as well 
• Sports plan enrollment and the sports that are covered. 

 
A-45.   See copy of current policy and loss run history.  (Attachments 2 & 3) 
 
Q-46. On page 3 of the RFP, under Submittal of Proposals, it states, “To facilitate the 
evaluation process, one (1) complete electronic version on a flash drive, (1) original AND (3) 
additional copies of the Proposal shall be provided”. Due to the nature of our business, and 
the personal information accessible, flash drives are prohibited by our security policies. Will 
Antelope Community College accept a CD in lieu of the flash drive requirement? 
 
A-46.  Yes. A CD is acceptable. 
 
Q-47. Student census broken down by Fall and Summer student enrollment (unduplicated). 
 
A-47.   See copy of current policy with census information. (Attachment 3) 
 
Q-48. Need 2015-2016 Sports census broken out by gender [men’s & women’s]; please 
include any new sports added in the 2016/17 academic year and the gender. 
 
A-48.   See A-47. 



Page 8 of 25 
 

 
Q-49. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 3) CDC [Child Development 
Center] – is this currently covered?  What is the specific benefit coverage for these children? 
[Are the children of enrolled and register students only eligible?] Any policy verbiage would 
be helpful. 
 
A-49.   See copy of current policy.  (Attachment 3) 
 
Q-50. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 4) If additional children that 
are enrolled in the CDC for daycare are desired to be covered, other than children of 
enrolled & registered students, we can cover them if desired? What is this approximate 
enrollment number? 
 
A-50.   135 children enrolled and approximately 60 children with an AVC parent. 
 
Q-51. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 5) Need 4 years complete 
loss history plus this year’s (partial) losses with policy premium, paid claims and PPO 
discounts for both the BASIC and CAT policies. (2013-2014 / 2014-2015 / 2015-2016 / 2016-
2017 – BASIC & CAT) 
 
A-51.   See Attachment 2. 
 
Q-52. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 6) Need 2 years benefits 
brochures for BASIC & CAT policies (2015 and current 2016). 
 
A-52.   See Attachment 3. 
 
 
Q-53. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 7) Verify the maximum 
benefit amounts and policy terms for the Student Catastrophic and Athletic Catastrophic. 
 
A-53.   See Attachment 3. 
 
Q-54. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 8) Does the District have any 
additional benefits included in the Athletic CAT policy such as CAT-Cash payments for partial 
or permanent disability? 
 
A-54.   See Attachment 3. 
 
Q-55. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 9) Verify the maximum 
benefit amounts on the BASIC accident policy for student & athletes. 
 
A-55.   See Attachment 3. 
 
Q-56. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward.10) Verify the deductibles 
for CLASS-1 athletes, CLASS-2 athletes, and Student injuries per occurrence. 
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A.56.   See Attachment 3. 
 
Q-57. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 11) Does the District have a 
mandatory PPO plan or 100% UC&R for the 2016-2017 policy year?  
 
A-57.   No. 
 
Q-58. The claims and benefit data is required to move forward. 12) Would the District 
entertain either option for flexibility? 
 
A-58.   Yes. 
 
Q-59. Please provide the following items for the 2016-2017 (YTD); 2015-2016; 2014-2015; 
and 2013-2014 policy years: 1) Pooling Amount; 2) Student Health Center Charges (if 
applicable), and 3) Fee schedule for Student Health Center services (if applicable). 
 
A-59.   Not related to liability insurance.  We are not requesting health insurance. 
 
 

 
All other terms and conditions remain the same. 
 
______________________________________   12/22/16______ 
Mina Hernandez, Purchasing Manager    Date 
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ATTACHMENT 4
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